
 
TAHOE REGIONAL PLANNING AGENCY       

LEGAL COMMITTEE                                                                                            
 
TRPA Offices         December 18, 2024 
Zoom 

Meeting Minutes 
 

CALL TO ORDER AND DETERMINATION OF QUORUM  

 Chair Williamson called the meeting to order at 2:22 p.m. on December 18, 2024. 
 

Members present: Ms. Aldean, Ms. Faustinos, Mr. Kieckhefer, and Ms. Williamson. 
 

 Members absent: Ms. Leumer. 
 
 
I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

TRPA General Counsel Graham St. Michel stated that there were no changes to the agenda. 
 
Chair Williamson deemed the agenda approved as posted. 
 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

Ms. Aldean made a motion to approve the November 20, 2024 Legal Committee meeting 
minutes as presented. 

 
Motion carried by voice vote. 

 
 

III. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE DIRECTION TO STAFF REGARDING THE TAHOE BLUE EVENT CENTER 
(FILE NO. ERSP2017-1212): PERMIT COMPLIANCE AND TRAFFIC REDUCTION ADAPTIVE 
MANAGEMENT PLAN UPDATE 

 
John Marshall, TRPA Associate Counsel, presented to the Legal Committee. John Marshall's 
presentation to the Legal Committee focused on the Tahoe Blue Events Center's compliance 
with its permit conditions, particularly regarding vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and trip reduction 
measures. He outlined the history and approval of the event center, which opened in 2020 and 
was controversial due to concerns about its impact on traffic and VMT. 
 
Mr. Marshall emphasized that the event center was designed as a net-zero VMT project, 
meaning it should offset the trips generated by the center through mechanisms like casino-paid 
parking and a new microtransit system. He explained how VMT is measured, combining the 
number of trips with the distance of those trips to calculate total vehicle miles traveled. 
 
The key permit condition requires that there be no net increase in VMT, either annually or 
during peak summer days, meaning the reductions from parking and microtransit should at least 
match or exceed the trips generated by events. Special conditions also limited the number of 
events to 130 per year, with a cap of 220 event days. These limits are designed to control the 
overall environmental impact of the venue. 
 

https://www.trpa.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024_Staff_Summary_Dec-EventCenter_Legal_12.11.24_v1-1.pdf
https://www.trpa.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024_Staff_Summary_Dec-EventCenter_Legal_12.11.24_v1-1.pdf
https://www.trpa.gov/wp-content/uploads/2024_Staff_Summary_Dec-EventCenter_Legal_12.11.24_v1-1.pdf


LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

Mr. Marshall also mentioned that any increase in event days or trips within the first three years 
would require approval from the governing board. After three years, changes could be 
authorized by the executive director if VMT reductions are sufficient to offset the additional 
events. 
 
Ms. Aldean's asked whether a positive recommendation from a stakeholder group would be 
required for any changes to the permit conditions. Mr. Marshall confirmed that is correct. 
 
John Marshall continued his presentation by addressing the process for amending the permit 
conditions. He clarified that any changes to the event center’s permit, particularly regarding the 
number of events or event days, would require a positive recommendation from a stakeholder 
group. If the proposed changes occur before three years, they would need approval from the 
governing board. After three years, the executive director could authorize the changes if the 
VMT reductions are sufficient to offset the increase in events or event days. Mr. Marshall also 
highlighted the importance of monitoring and adaptive management to ensure compliance with 
VMT and trip reduction goals. 
 
Ms. Aldean raised a concern about the permit conditions not being met. She questioned 
whether it was the responsibility of the permittee to inform the agency if they are unable to 
comply with the conditions, especially if it was due to financial issues or feasibility concerns. She 
emphasized that if a condition is not feasible, the permittee should notify the agency before 
failing to comply, rather than simply not meeting the requirements. 
 
In response to Ms. Aldean's concern, Mr. Marshall acknowledged the importance of 
communication between the permittee and the agency regarding non-compliance with permit 
conditions. He explained that if a condition becomes unfeasible or impossible to meet, the 
permittee is generally expected to inform the agency as soon as possible, rather than simply 
failing to comply. 
 
Continuing his presentation, Mr. Marshall highlighted that the event center's permit included 
specific conditions regarding VMT and trip reduction, which were designed to address 
environmental concerns. He emphasized the need for ongoing monitoring and the adaptive 
management program to ensure the permit's conditions are met. Additionally, he outlined the 
procedure for permit modifications and stressed that any significant changes, such as increasing 
the number of events or event days, would require careful evaluation and approval from the 
governing board or the executive director, depending on the timing and circumstances. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer's question referred to the staff report, specifically asking about the estimates for 
the single event on July 13th. He mentioned that these estimates were outlined on page 279 of 
the packet and inquired whether those numbers remained consistent with TRPA's assessment of 
the trips for that day. 
 
Mr. Marshall responded by explaining that the estimates provided were their best 
approximation, but the numbers had not been finalized through a detailed discussion with 
TDVA. He mentioned that they had not yet reviewed the recent letter from TDVA, which 
outlined how they believed the trip count for the event should have been conducted. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer asked if the estimated 1,164 trips were calculated by taking half the number of 
event attendees, assuming two people per car. He then inquired whether the event was 
affiliated with a golf tournament, referencing his recollection of an event with Jimmy Fallon. He 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

also asked if there was an assessment to determine whether the attendees actually made those 
trips, or if the calculation was just an estimate. 
 
Mr. Marshall clarified that the trip estimate was indeed a rough calculation, without detailed 
analysis of whether attendees made the trips themselves. 
 
Ms. Aldean expressed understanding of the minor exceedance and the opportunity to 
reconvene the stakeholders group to implement additional mitigations. She sought more 
information on why Bluetooth was not implemented as originally agreed and noted missteps, 
particularly regarding surveying. She indicated that the surveys weren't conducted in 
compliance with requirements, though staff believes the survey work has been done according 
to the permit. Ms. Aldean then asked Mr. Marshall who the point person at the agency is for 
enforcing the permit's elements, noting that the enforcement was not as rigorous as it should 
have been. 
 
Executive Director Julie Regan responded by explaining that enforcement and compliance 
tracking vary depending on the project. For this large project, Paul Nielsen worked on it, and the 
agency also has a compliance team, including Steve Sweet. She noted that the level of tracking 
and mitigation can differ, citing Heavenly as an example of a project with a prescribed 
monitoring process. Julie acknowledged the shared responsibility for not catching the issues 
sooner and mentioned that she would ask Paul to provide a snapshot of the work involved. She 
emphasized that this project was complicated and unique, with significant enforcement and 
compliance efforts throughout construction, particularly concerning groundwater and 
construction management. She then turned the discussion over to Paul for further details. 
 
Paul Nielsen explained that in April 2022, the decision was made that Bluetooth monitoring 
might not be the best approach. As a result, they started considering alternatives, but could not 
deviate from the permits without consulting stakeholders. Three stakeholder meetings were 
held to discuss alternatives, but no agreement was reached to deviate from the original plan. 
Meanwhile, the event center opened, and Bluetooth monitors were not installed. Paul referred 
to Lew [Feldman] for further clarification on that decision. 
 
Julie Regan acknowledged that the project was approved in 2020, right at the onset of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, which created significant challenges for the agency and the world. She 
highlighted that many things were disrupted during that time, including the agency's operations. 
While she noted that these circumstances did not excuse the issues, she emphasized that the 
current effort to address the situation serves as a valuable learning experience. She pointed out 
the unique nature of this large-scale project and discussed the importance of developing a clear 
protocol for managing such complex projects, especially when there are numerous moving parts 
and conditions to be met. 
 
Paul Nielsen explained that there was initial optimism about finding a better way to collect data, 
especially with the advent of big data and the involvement of various stakeholders. One 
suggestion was using "StreetLight" for traffic monitoring instead of Bluetooth, but there was no 
consensus on whether it was a suitable replacement. Despite three stakeholder meetings 
discussing data collection methods, no agreement was reached, and the event center opened 
without implementing Bluetooth monitoring. Mr. Nielsen acknowledged that while they could 
have enforced the permit and required Bluetooth installation, they chose to engage 
stakeholders, hoping for a collaborative solution. He admitted that perhaps a unilateral decision 
should have been made sooner to enforce the permit, but they ultimately felt that the 
Bluetooth requirement, as endorsed by the board and stakeholders, should be upheld. 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

 
Ms. Aldean clarified that she was not suggesting bypassing stakeholder involvement but 
emphasized that the authority existed to implement a permanent condition if necessary. She 
pointed out that there was the ability to enforce the permit condition directly. 
 
Mr. Marshall responded by confirming that during that time, they specifically requested TDVA to 
implement Bluetooth monitoring. 
 
Chair Williamson raised a question with three parts. She expressed concern about moving 
forward without a baseline to measure progress. Specifically, she asked whether there was any 
data available from the past that could help create a baseline, and if it's possible to extrapolate 
this data in a way that stakeholders could agree upon. 
 
Julie acknowledged the complexity of the project and how difficult it had been to get agreement 
on basic facts about the permit. Despite having many experts involved, they could not find a 
reliable way to re-engineer the baseline after eight months of discussions. However, she 
indicated a breakthrough with new gate data, and they now believe they have a new path 
forward. She mentioned that the data from January 2023, before the opening of the event, is 
available for review and could serve as a basis for consideration. 
 
John added that the loss of baseline data and how it affects the ability to accurately measure 
the impact of paid parking on reducing the number of trips. While it’s possible to measure the 
number of trips generated by an event and the number of cars parked, the missing baseline data 
makes it challenging to determine the specific reduction in trips due to paid parking. He 
explained that, without Tahoe-specific data, they have to rely on general findings from other 
locations to assess the effectiveness of paid parking as a trip reducer. This reliance on external 
data was part of the controversy over the initial traffic report, which used generalized 
coefficients instead of Tahoe-specific data. 
 
Paul mentioned that in the initial analysis for the event center, they found limited information in 
the literature regarding the effectiveness of paid parking as a traffic management tool. This lack 
of data made it difficult to rely on existing studies to inform their analysis. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer asked two legal questions: how to modify the permit going forward and how to 
address the non-compliance that occurred in the interim. He also clarified that any 
recommendations from the committee would need to go through the full board. 
 
John Marshall explained that any permit modification must go to the board, and any 
enforcement resolution goes through legal with a recommendation to the governing board for 
approval or adjustment. Staff will take the committee's direction and implement it through 
either permit amendments or a violation resolution. These actions will then return either for 
committee recommendation on enforcement matters or go directly to the board for permit 
amendments. 
 
Chairwoman Williamson stated that she would like to consult with her legal committee on this 
issue, given its significance and the comments received. She emphasized that, regardless of the 
usual process, she believes this matter should go back to the full board for consideration. Even if 
it would traditionally go through legal, any approval or action taken should ultimately be 
decided by the governing board. 
 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

Ms. Aldean noted that most routine violations are typically handled through the consent 
calendar or consent agenda. She emphasized the importance of making it clear that no action is 
being taken at this stage without the full board's involvement. 
 
John Marshall then addressed the issue of how to classify local events at the event center. He 
explained that the Nevada Legislature's oversight committee received public input, including 
from the TDBA, questioning whether certain local events—such as graduations or South Shore 
community functions—should be considered events requiring VMT (Vehicle Miles Traveled) 
mitigation if they would have taken place elsewhere in the same area regardless. 
He noted that under current rules, these events are counted towards the 130 permitted annual 
events unless the board decides otherwise. However, after three years of implementation (by 
2026), the executive director may review data to determine if such events should be exempted 
based on VMT neutrality. The legislative oversight committee recommended that TRPA consider 
exemptions for some or all local events. 
 
Shelly Aldean expressed her view that the discussion on exempting local events should be 
postponed until larger, unresolved issues are addressed. While she acknowledged the oversight 
committee's input, she pointed out that events like graduations might attract more attendees if 
held at the event center due to its larger capacity, potentially increasing outside participation 
and VMT. She cautioned that this issue complicates matters when the primary focus should be 
on funding concerns. 
 
John Marshall explained that the discussion on local events has been ongoing and did not 
originate solely from the Oversight Committee. The key issue is defining which events should be 
considered "no net" in terms of VMT impact. Factors such as the distance to the event center 
and whether an event would have occurred regardless of the venue change need to be 
considered. He acknowledged the complexity of the issue but indicated that discussions have 
focused on ensuring a uniform and justifiable approach to classifying events. Unless there were 
further questions, he suggested moving on to the next presentation. 

 
 
 Tahoe Douglas Visitors Authority Comments 
 

Lew Feldman, presenting on behalf of TDVA, began by acknowledging John Marshall’s decades 
of service and exemplary performance. He then provided an overview of the TDVA, noting that 
it is a public entity that issued $112 million in municipal bonds to build the event center, which 
has generally been well-received despite being smaller than initially anticipated. Feldman 
highlighted that the event center operates under a heavily conditioned permit issued by TRPA in 
2020, which, if written today, would likely look very different. He emphasized that the baseline 
for traffic impact assessment was set at 2019 levels, despite ongoing debates about its 
appropriateness. TDVA has been cooperative in discussions about traffic monitoring and has 
never refused to install Bluetooth monitors, though the permit does not specify a deadline for 
installation. Additionally, the projected cost of monitoring was initially estimated at $70,000 
over five years, but in reality, it is closer to $1 million, raising concerns about the best use of 
public funds. 
 
Mr. Feldman pointed out that the Tahoe Transportation District (TTD) has applied for a $9.5 
million grant for similar monitoring efforts, suggesting a potential collaboration. He also noted 
that TDVA is willing to purchase electronic sensor data for $2,000 per month, which would 
provide accurate, real-time traffic counts. He argued that the current permit's reliance on event 
caps is an ineffective metric, as many events have minimal attendance, and the true impact on 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

vehicle miles traveled (VMT) is better assessed through actual data. With 82,000 attendees in 
the first year, analysis suggests the event center could host up to a million visitors annually 
without violating traffic standards—though in reality, numbers are likely to remain much lower. 
 
Mr. Feldman asserted that discussions about minor exceedances in trip counts, such as 69 
potential trips on a day when 20,000 people attended a golf tournament nearby, are 
distractions from more meaningful data analysis. He also highlighted TDVA’s commitment to 
solutions, including a vanpool program that offset trips on the same day. Additionally, he 
emphasized that TDVA has been proactive in implementing microtransit services, launching 
year-round service seven years ahead of schedule. He concluded by expressing confusion over 
the eagerness to find violations and reaffirmed TDVA’s commitment to collaboration and 
problem-solving, noting their consistent engagement with stakeholders in good faith. 
  
Ben Kieckhefer posed a more philosophical question, suggesting that property owners, such as 
those purchasing hotels on the shore of Lake Tahoe, likely do so with the intent to increase 
visitor volume rather than maintain the status quo. He inquired whether there are any existing 
requirements for property owners to offset vehicle miles traveled (VMT) if their business 
generates additional traffic. 
 
John Marshall explained that in such situations, analysis is conducted using the industry 
standard from the International Transportation Engineers (ITE) manual, which establishes trip 
generation rates. Rather than considering existing trip volumes based on vacancy rates, 
calculations are based on these standardized ITE rates. As a result, unless additional rooms are 
added, the trip rates generally remain the same. In most vehicle miles traveled (VMT) 
calculations, there is no assumption that a new owner will generate more business than the 
previous occupant if the business type remains unchanged. However, if a different type of 
business is introduced, the applicable rates may vary, and any new project requiring a permit 
would trigger a reassessment. If ownership changes without a business change, no new 
calculations are required. 
 
Ben Kieckhefer questioned the underlying philosophy of the program, suggesting that it 
operates on the assumption that growth and success are inherently negative unless they can be 
offset to achieve net-zero impact. While he acknowledged that this approach is the established 
policy, he personally does not share that perspective. He used the example of an event center, 
which was permitted with the expectation that it would attract visitors, to illustrate his 
concerns. He expressed discomfort with the idea of imposing punitive actions on an entity based 
on a potential violation that may not even be real or measurable. Additionally, he found it 
problematic that such penalties could be directed at another local or quasi-governmental entity, 
interpreting this as a strong signal of disapproval toward their success. 
 
John Marshall responded by distinguishing this situation from a typical case of trying to improve 
upon a prior owner's impact. He noted that in this instance, there was no previous owner to 
compare against, making it a different consideration altogether. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer acknowledged that his previous comparison may not have been fair and clarified 
that he was trying to understand whether traffic policies are designed to disincentivize growth. 
 
Mr. Marshall explained that the policy is not intended to disincentivize growth but rather to 
reduce reliance on the private automobile as the primary means of transportation in the basin. 
 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

Ms. Aldean acknowledged the unpredictability of factors influencing traffic and visitor patterns, 
citing the example of Indian gaming's impact on state line casinos. She noted that it’s difficult to 
quantify variations in VMT, as changes in ownership or improvements in marketing could 
increase visitors, while other factors might reduce traffic. She agreed that this issue isn’t a 
precise science, highlighting the challenge in managing such fluctuations. 
 
Chairwoman Williamson reflected that Ben's concern seems to be that, while attracting people 
to events is beneficial for the community, it feels punitive to penalize them for attending.  
 
Mr. Kieckhefer is suggesting that, to some extent, the situation could be viewed as problematic, 
especially if there is an argument to be made that no violation occurred at all. 
 
Ms. Aldean clarifies that the TRPA's required or suggested motions are not punitive, as there is 
no monetary penalty for violating the permit. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer points out that while there may not be a monetary penalty, the requirement 
sends them back to implement additional compliance measures. 
 
Ms. Aldean acknowledges that this project is unique, and some assumptions made earlier were 
inaccurate. She believes the permit should allow for flexibility due to the unknowns at the time, 
which is why adaptive management was included to make necessary adjustments. She also 
recognizes some oversights and appreciates Julie's honesty in admitting that their oversight 
should have been greater. Ms. Aldean emphasizes the importance of finding a path forward and 
being honest about mistakes. 
 
Ms. Williamson acknowledges the importance of ensuring that permits are meaningful, as they 
are agreements that parties commit to, even though circumstances can change over time. She 
expresses a desire to hear from Julie and emphasizes the challenge of balancing this reality 
while moving forward collaboratively. She also raises a concern about the potential animosity 
between parties, given their past history of working well together. Ms. Williamson asks Mr. 
Feldman what, in his view, would be the best argument for the other side, suggesting that it 
might not be a fair question but wanting to understand where the disagreement lies. 
 
Lew Feldman acknowledges that he may have characterized the situation too harshly at times, 
referring to it as a "thirst for a violation." He believes that, ultimately, both parties want the 
same outcome and are trying to apply the best available technology to the situation. He argues 
that the data indicates there is ample headroom regarding the occupancy of the facility, and 
that there is no significant risk of exceeding Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) limits on average 
annual terms. Feldman notes that while there may be some debate about peak summer days, 
he does not want to waste time on that unless necessary. He stresses that the League has been 
a good partner, and there is just a difference in how they perceive this moment in time. 
 
Ms. Williamson appreciates Lew Feldman's comments and emphasizes that she doesn't believe 
the League simply wants a violation. She acknowledges that both parties are good partners and 
expresses her intention to ask the League directly about the issues they are encountering. 
 
Executive Director Regan emphasized that the TRPA has been working diligently to resolve 
issues over the past 18 months. She acknowledged the differing perspectives and the struggle to 
find a path forward that honors the integrity of the permitting system. She emphasized the 
importance of ensuring that permits are upheld while recognizing the public and environmental 
benefits of the community project. Regan highlighted efforts to move away from a reliance on 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

cars, citing examples like the John Legend concert, where many people walked rather than 
drove. She also mentioned that the TRPA’s enforcement capacity is limited to either working out 
violations with the project applicant or pursuing legal action in court. She concluded by 
reiterating the TRPA’s commitment to resolving the compliance issue. 

 
 
Public Comment 
 
Ellie Waller expressed frustration over the ongoing discussions, highlighting the missed deadline 
for the permit condition that should have been addressed by December 31st. She questioned 
why the rules weren’t being followed and expressed concern about setting a precedent where 
conditions aren’t enforced. Waller mentioned that the lack of consequences undermines public 
confidence in the process and stressed the need for a resolution to long-standing issues. She 
also pointed out the controversial nature of microtransit as part of the solution and raised 
concerns about underfunding in transportation, particularly in Douglas County. She concluded 
by emphasizing the need for larger discussions on transportation and related issues. 
 
Gavin Feiger, Policy Director for the League to Save Lake Tahoe, emphasized the importance of 
the event center as a community benefit, stating that the League has no interest in reducing the 
number of events but acknowledged the need for compliance with permit conditions. He 
expressed concern that the lack of consequences for noncompliance undermines public 
confidence in the process. Mr. Feiger highlighted that the monitoring plan has been an issue 
since the draft was released, particularly regarding the Bluetooth monitoring, and mentioned 
that the League has been actively involved in transportation efforts like Lake Link and van pools. 
He pointed out the long delay in addressing these issues and stated that, while the event center 
is a good project, there are violations of permit conditions that need to be addressed. He urged 
TRPA to implement significant adaptive management to address noncompliance and suggested 
penalties and remedies. Mr. Feiger stressed the need for quick action and resolution so that 
discussions can move forward on other issues. 
 
Chair Williamson asked Gavin Feiger if he is seeking a specific dollar amount for the violation. 
 
Mr. Feiger responded that they are not seeking a specific dollar amount, but rather outlined a 
few actions from Appendix C of the permit related to adaptive management for exceedances.  
 
He emphasized two main priorities: 
1. Making the pilot transit service, which operates two hours before and after each event with 

1,500 or more people, permanent, potentially as part of the permit condition if reopened, 
with a cost-share or involvement from TTD or another provider. 

2. Improving pedestrian and bicycle access, including contributing funds to build a sidewalk 
between the event center and lower Kingsbury, and taking on maintenance, especially in 
winter, to ensure year-round usability. 

 
He also mentioned other potential actions but highlighted these two as the top priorities. 
 
Mr. Feldman explained that they collect a $4 ticket surcharge from each attendee, with $1 
earmarked for monitoring and $3 allocated to fund microtransit. He noted that the $1 for 
monitoring has proven insufficient in the first year. As attendance increases, especially with 
hockey events, the revenue will rise correspondingly. He expressed a willingness to reallocate 
25% of the ticket surcharge toward long-term benefits like fixed-route transit or a sidewalk 
between Lake Parkway and Kingsbury. He emphasized a preference for using the funds for on-



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

the-ground improvements rather than for traffic engineering services. 
 
Ms. Williamson asked if both parties agreed with the points discussed. 
 
Mr. Feldman responded by acknowledging that the necessary elements are in place, but the 
next step is to move forward and take action.  
 
Mr. Feiger suggested that increasing the per-person surcharge could be part of the solution, 
potentially for a year or two, to help cover costs or make up for any shortfalls. 
 
Ms. Williamson asked about the triggers for bringing the stakeholder group together to discuss 
the status of the permit. She inquired whether this could be done independently or if a violation 
would need to be identified before convening the group. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer asked if there was a way for the stakeholders to proactively meet and begin 
discussing the issues, such as having a casual conversation, rather than waiting for a violation to 
trigger the need for a meeting. 
 
Ms. Regan responded that there has been ongoing effort and progress toward agreement, 
despite the delays. She acknowledged that the stakeholder group had been close to meeting a 
year ago, but it was postponed at stakeholders' request to allow more work on monitoring and 
baseline agreement. She emphasized that the delay was due to the need for thorough 
preparation and coordination. 
 
Mr. Nielsen discussed the preliminary stakeholder meetings held before the event center 
opened, where they considered whether it made sense to deviate from Bluetooth monitoring to 
another approach. These meetings involved discussions about the new direction, and minutes 
from these sessions are available. He noted that the permit required stakeholder coordination 
meetings to evaluate monitoring results, particularly for Bluetooth and service levels, 
considering variables like a heavy winter or COVID that could impact results. These meetings 
were essentially a check-in with stakeholders to assess if the monitoring program was on the 
right track. 
 
Mr. Nielsen highlighted that the permittee didn't ignore the condition but instead believed that 
an alternative method for collecting information would be more effective, cost-efficient, and 
better overall. However, they were unable to reach an agreement on this new approach before 
the event center opened, preventing the authorization of the proposed deviation. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer asked if the conversations about changing the monitoring approach began 15 to 
17 months before the event center opened, referencing the initial discussion in 2022 when the 
permittee proposed trying something else instead of the original method. 
 
Mr. Nielsen clarified that the specific stakeholder meeting dates were in January, April, and July 
of 2023, meaning the discussions took place about nine months before the event center 
opened. 
 
Kirk Walder, chair of the Douglas County Planning Commission, expressed strong support for 
amending the current agreement for the Tahoe Blue Event Center, stating that the agreement is 
flawed and should be repealed and replaced. At a minimum, he proposed several changes. First, 
he suggested eliminating the limit on the annual number of events, arguing that such limits 
aren't imposed on other facilities and don't effectively control vehicle miles traveled. Second, he 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

recommended removing the summer event population restriction of 2,500, as no other venues 
have such limits, and occasional larger events haven't been shown to cause issues. Third, he 
called for ending the prohibition on holding events at the event center on the same day as 
concerts at Harvey’s, noting that such events wouldn't cause significant problems. Fourth, he 
advocated for allowing specific community activities to be held at the event center, giving local 
governments and civic organizations access without restrictions. He also suggested that when 
calculating baseline vehicle miles traveled data, actions by casinos should be considered, 
especially if changes in casino activity could significantly impact the baseline. Finally, he 
addressed the issue of unreliable gate count data from casinos, which may be influenced by 
large promotions occurring on the same day as event center events. Walder also highlighted the 
effectiveness of programs like paid parking and microtransit in reducing event center-related 
vehicle miles traveled. 
Doug Flaherty expressed concern that there have been violations of the permit conditions that 
have not been adequately addressed. He pointed out that more than just a general comment 
about TDVA not implementing the full traffic monitoring plan has been discussed, and the 
compliance with the VMT permit conditions cannot be fully assessed. Mr. Flaherty also noted 
that the permit requires quarterly and annual meetings with government, environmental, and 
economic stakeholders, but there has been a lack of public access to important information, 
including written surveys. He suggested that the issue be returned to the stakeholder group and 
a special meeting be organized to resolve the matter. Additionally, he criticized the attempt to 
move the issue to the legal committee, arguing that it should be handled by a hearing officer. He 
called for a report by Ms. Regan assessing the violations and where TRPA may have failed. Mr. 
Flaherty urged that no action be taken at the current meeting and that the issue be sent back to 
the stakeholder group, with public involvement. 
 
Cody Bass shared his support for the event center, noting its positive impact on the community, 
particularly its role as an economic driver by encouraging people to visit local businesses in the 
area after events. He acknowledged the importance of compliance with permit conditions, while 
highlighting that multiple meetings have been held regarding traffic counts. He suggested that if 
historical data from casino gates before September 2023 could be reviewed, it could provide a 
useful baseline for assessing the event center’s impact. Additionally, Mr. Bass proposed that 
smaller events, such as those with fewer than 750 people, should not count against the event 
cap, as they help generate midweek tourism and support the local economy. He also suggested 
that the capacity limits at the event center and Harvey’s amphitheater be reconsidered to allow 
for smaller events, which could attract more talent and generate more bookings without 
overlapping larger events. Mr. Bass concluded by expressing his anticipation for the discussion 
to continue with the governing board. 
 
Alan Miller, a professional engineer from South Lake Tahoe, expressed strong dissatisfaction 
with the ongoing discussion, criticizing both the TRPA and the TDVA for failing to enforce permit 
conditions. He described the situation as a "sham," accusing the two organizations of colluding 
to violate regulations at the expense of stakeholders and the public. Mr. Miller argued that any 
actions taken today would be without legal authority, calling it a "bait and switch." He cited a 
recent article that highlighted TRPA's environmental shortcomings and its failure to meet 
regulatory obligations. He also criticized TRPA's budget allocation, suggesting that their actions, 
such as the current issue, reflect poorly on their ability to regulate effectively. Mr. Miller 
concluded by stating that the public should be outraged by this situation, and warned that the 
stakeholders could be disenfranchised under the influence of Mr. Marshall. 
 
 
 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

Committee Discussion 
 
Ms. Williamson proposed that instead of making the first two motions, the third motion should 
be made. Her suggestion was to direct staff to collaborate with TDVA and stakeholders to 
develop a proposal by the February 2025 governing board meeting. This proposal should aim to 
bring the project into full compliance with the permit and address the request from the Nevada 
Legislative Committee to exclude local events from the permit cap. She emphasized the 
importance of giving staff room to work with TDVA and stakeholders to resolve the issues and 
avoid making potentially inflammatory findings at this stage. She believed that the remaining 
issues could still be worked out with stakeholder input, and she advocated for leaving the 
matter open for further discussion before bringing it to the governing board. 
 
Ms. Aldean expressed no objection to Ms. Williamson's proposed motion. She added that if the 
first two findings were to be made, they should be done in consultation with the stakeholders 
group. She emphasized the importance of continuing the inclusive process and making decisions 
collaboratively to ensure buy-in from the various parties involved. Ms. Aldean then asked Mr. 
Marshall if there was a requirement to acknowledge the "minor exceedance" that had been 
characterized, suggesting that it should be recognized upfront. 
 
Mr. Marshall responded that there was not. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer agreed with the previous comments and expressed that he would not support 
motion number two. He stated that he did not believe the situation in question was likely a 
violation, and it would probably be easier to justify that it was not a violation. He suggested that 
if the parties involved could meet and discuss what data to use, it would be better than making 
a decision at this point. 
 
Ms. Aldean acknowledged the inconvenience of involving stakeholders but emphasized the 
importance of doing so at various levels. She expressed concern that some stakeholders might 
feel excluded and stressed the need to remedy this. She also agreed that motion number two 
was likely unnecessary and supported the current motion as an adequate approach. 
 
Mr. Feldman proposed an addition to the motion, suggesting that the request of the TDVA be 
considered, specifically to evaluate attendance versus event cap as an appropriate metric. 
 
Ms. Williamson expressed that she was completely comfortable with the proposed addition and 
thanked Mr. Feldman for the amendment. 
 
Mr. Kieckhefer stated that the proposal is flexible enough to consider a wide range of options, 
and anything that the parties can agree on should be brought back for discussion. 
 
Ms. Williamson made a motion to direct staff to work with TDVA and stakeholders to bring a 
proposal by the February 2025 Governing Board meeting that (A) brings the project into full 
compliance with the permit, (B) considers the request of the Neveda Legislative Oversight 
Committee to exclude “local Events” from the permit’s cap on the number of Events, and (C) to 
evaluate attendance versus event cap as an appropriate metric. 
 
Ayes:  Ms. Aldean, Ms. Faustinos, Mr. Kieckhefer, and Ms. Williamson. 
Nays: None. 
Motion carried.  

 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 
IV. CLOSED SESSION WITH COUNSEL TO DISCUSS EXISTING AND POTENTIAL LITIGATION 
 

None. 
 
 
V.  POTENTIAL DIRECTION REGARDING AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 

None. 
 
 

VI. COMMITTEE MEMBER COMMENTS   

Ms. Regan reiterated her commitment to resolving the issue and expressed that she found the 
discussion to be very productive. 
 
Ms. Aldean asked whether the $10,000 deposit mentioned on page 285 of the permit packet for 
monitoring costs was adequate and if it had been exhausted. Ms. Regan responded that she 
would get back to her with an answer. 
 
Ms. Williamson presented a retirement gift to John Marshall, highlighting his significant 
contributions to the Agency, particularly his work on the 18-year-long case where the Supreme 
Court ruled in favor of the TRPA regarding the constitutional nature of 1980s era building 
moratoriums. She praised his invaluable legal counsel and expressed her reluctance to 
acknowledge that this was his last meeting. 

 
Ms. Aldean commented on the holiday jacket, expressing appreciation for it being worn one last 
time. John Marshall then mentioned that the jacket would officially be transferred to Katherine. 
The committee members indicated their approval and enjoyment of the gesture and highlighted 
the pride that Katherine showed. 

 

                         
VII. PUBLIC INTEREST COMMENTS   

 Ellie Waller thanked Graham [St. Michel] and mentioned her recent meeting 
attendance, where she raised concerns brought up by homeowners from Laurel Drive. 
She discussed issues with how violations are being handled, suggesting that violations 
be filed with both Douglas County and TRPA. She highlighted unanswered violations 
and the lack of accountability for a sign placed on a property. Ellie requested that the 
legal committee address these issues, acknowledging the busy schedule of the 
enforcement team. She also mentioned concerns about another controversial project, 
hoping for positive outcomes but emphasizing the need for a better process than what 
has unfolded with the events. 

Doug Flaherty began by congratulating the chair for asking important questions about 
compliance, noting it was the first time in six years that such questions had been raised. He 
expressed hope that stakeholders could resolve the issues related to the event center, 
acknowledging its importance. However, he indicated that, due to the time he spent reviewing 
reports, he would seek more information to understand what went wrong. Doug suggested that 
the TRPA director release a report admitting areas of non-compliance and mistakes made by 
involved parties. He warned that if the stakeholders group could not resolve the matter, further 
investigation would be necessary. Doug also criticized the idea that opponents of development 



LEGAL COMMITTEE  
December 18, 2024 

are against all development, stressing that he supports development when it ensures public 
safety and enforces permit conditions. He concluded by joking about John's holiday jacket, 
mistakenly thinking it was for Mardi Gras. 

 

VIII. ADJOURNMENT 

 Mr. Kieckhefer moved to adjourn.  
 

Meeting adjourned at 4:15 p.m.  
 

  
                                                Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 
Katherine Huston 

Paralegal 
 
 

The above meeting was recorded in its entirety. Anyone wishing to listen to the recording may find it at 
https://www.trpa.gov/meeting-materials/. In addition, written documents submitted at the meeting are 
available for review. If you require assistance locating this information, please contact the TRPA at (775) 

588-4547 or virtualmeetinghelp@trpa.gov.                               
  

https://www.trpa.gov/meeting-materials/
mailto:virtualmeetinghelp@trpa.gov

